

T1236



NATIONAL COLLEGE OF ART & DESIGN CRAFT - GLASS

€

2

YANAGI SOETSU, HIS MINGEI MOVEMENT AND HIS ADVICE TO ARTIST/MAKERS ON THE FUTURE OF CRAFTS IN AN INDUSTRIAL SOCIETY

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF HISTORY OF ART & DESIGN AND COMPLEMENTARY STUDIES AND IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE, FACULTY OF CRAFT

DEPARTMENT OF GLASS

BY

ELAINE RUTH GRIFFIN MARCH 1994



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my appreciation to the following people for their guidance and support in the writing of this thesis:

- Mrs Tepko A Utsumi, Programme Director, Japan Folk Crafts Museum
- Mrs Gemma Bradley, Assistant Librarian, National College of Art and Design
- Dr Nicola Gordon Bowe, Lecturer in Design, National College of Art and Design



CONTENTS

*

		PAGE
Acknowledgements		1
Contents		2
List of Figur	es	3
Introduction		5
Part One Chapter 1 Chapter 2	Japan's history: its effect on her traditional crafts Yanagi Soetsu: his lifetime goals and achievements	8 14
Part Two Chapter 3 Chapter 4	The beauty of <i>Mingei</i> and the working ethics of the traditional Japanese Craftsman Yanagi's advice to the Artist/Maker on the future of crafts in industry; reflected in the work of the Finnish designer, Kaj Franck	19 27
Conclusion		37
List of Footnotes		38
Bibliography		40
Manazines	Journals Leaflets Brochures	12



.

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

- Figure 1: Map of Japan. Taken from: *The Edinburgh World Atlas*, Edinburgh, John Bartholomew & Son Ltd., 1954.
- Figure 2. *Hamamono* product. Taken from Sparke, Penny, *Japanese Design*, London, Swallow Publishing Ltd., 1987.
- Figure 3. Portrait of Yanagi Soetsu by Bernard Leach. Taken from: Leach, Bernard, *Drawings, Verse and Belief*, London, One World Publications, 1973.
- Figure 4. Photo of Hamada, Leach and Yanagi. Taken from: *Hamada, Potter*, London, Thames & Hudson Ltd., 1976.
- Figure 5. Photo of Nippon Mingeikan. Taken from Nippon Mingeikan Brochure.
- Figure 6. Example of *Mingei* objects. Arare iron kettle, diameter 28 cm. Postcard from the Nippon Mingeikan.
- Figure 7. Example of *Mingei* objects. *Hidehira* bowl, lacquered peach wood, diameter 14 cm., Postcard from the Nippon Mingeikan
- Figure 8. Example of *Mingei* objects. An *ainu* robe, silk appliqué, cotton, Postcard from the Nippon Mingeikan
- Figure 9. *Chasen*. Taken from: Austin, Levy & Ueda, *Bamboo*, New York/Tokyo, Weatherill Inc., 1970.
- Figure 10. Making process of *chasen*. Taken from: Austin, Levy & Ueda, *Bamboo*, New York/Tokyo, Weatherill Inc., 1970.
- Figure 11. Yatsushiro ware *chatsubo*. Taken from: Moes, Robert, *Mingei Japanese Folk Art*, USA, Universal Books, 1985.
- Figure 12. Yamamokami ware *chatsubo*. Taken from: Victoria & Albert Museum, *Japanese Art & Design*, London, 1986.



- Figure 13. Photo of Kaj Franck. Taken from: littala Finland/Arabia Finland Brochure, Helsinki, Hackman Tabletop Oy Ab.
- Figure 14. Carafe. Kaj Franck, Nuutajärvi Glassworks, 1954. Taken from: Siltavuori, Eeva, A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.
- Figure 15. Kilta service. Kaj Franck, Arabia Finland 1953-74. Taken from: Siltavuori, Eeva, A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.
- Figure 16. Porcelain Condiment Set, Kaj Franck, Arabia Finland, 1956. Taken from: Siltavuori, Eeva, A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function Finland*, No. 3, 1987.



INTRODUCTION

Ever since I began my studies in glass design, I have never felt connected to or particularly inspired by the people who lead the field in contemporary glass making. This is not to say that I have not been impressed by their technical knowledge and professionalism, but as a person, I find it hard to relate to images in glossy catalogues and to the knowledge that these pieces were formed from the most hi-tech and expensive equipment available to the modern day glass maker.

It is for this reason that I began to find traditional folk crafts much more rewarding and inspirational for my own work. I became fascinated by the ability of ordinary people to recognise and appreciate what nature had to offer them, and to use these ready provided raw materials to make utilitarian objects that fulfilled the needs of their daily living.

As my interest in folk crafts developed, I found myself drawn towards *mingei*, the traditional folk crafts of Japan. Their use of simple forms, sensitive approach towards natural materials, their spontaneity and non-egocentricity are all qualities which I empathise with and try to incorporate into my own work, as a contemporary craft designer. It seems to me also that the quality of life was enriched by the constant use of these humble, yet beautiful, objects, which the pre-industrial people of Japan surrounded themselves with, giving them a sense of familiarity and security, something which contemporary crafts seem to have transcended in their desire to be viewed as art forms.

The more I absorbed myself in traditional folk crafts, the more I felt removed from what contemporary crafts had to offer and often wondered how or if it was possible to bridge the gap between the two opposing methods of production. As an emerging artist/maker, I questioned the possibility of working with similar ethics and approaches to folk craft production, in a world that had developed so much, scientifically and industrially. To me it seemed impossible to find a solution to this dilemma, for life has evolved so rapidly

NORODOCONTRI

A respirable begins the set of the proster who reacone test in contemporary and the set of an information of the proster who reacone test in contemporary and set of an information of the proster who reacone test in contemporary and set of an information of the set of the

A provide the second of the

In a sectad absorbed in year of the different folloated with a none trial paravely remained emperations to be the back of the antide of the constance have been as possible to brings tranged between the dwo opposing distribute of called. An an empty a distribute of the dwo opposing distribute of where of the similar efforts and administrative to be the constitutive of retination who similar efforts and administrative to be the constitutive of retination of the match estimation of the constitution as word one that devisioned as match estimation is and industrially. To use distribute the constitution find a solution of the distribute from the back of the constitution of the constitution of the match estimation of the constitution of the operation of the solution of the distribute in the rest worded on the constitution of the constitution of the distribute in the from the from the back of the constitution. since the production of folk crafts and after all, it was industrialisation, in most cases, that caused their production to cease. I could not envisage a way of maintaining a balance or even finding a point of connection whereby one method could live alongside and complement the other.

That is, until I discovered the teachings and philosophies of Yanagi Soetsu, a Japanese philosophy graduate, who devoted his life to the preservation and re-education of the masses in the appreciation of traditional folk crafts. Although never a maker, Yanagi worked closely with many artisans, such as Bernard Leach, Shoji Hamada and Tomimoto Kenkichi, and used his relationships with them as an insight into the development of the folk craft maker, to the artist/maker and the difficulties that arose from the transition of local folk crafts to modern industrialisation. Yanagi was highly respected among many makers for his seeing eye and his ability to recognise the beauty in common objects. A deep belief in truth, faith and beauty as a unity underlaid his life and throughout his search for beauty and the opposition he encountered, his beliefs never wavered.

My thesis will be divided into two parts, each consisting of two chapters. The first chapter will deal with Japan's history and the circumstances surrounding the decline of her traditional folk crafts. I will give an account of the production of crafts in Japan before industrialisation and the circumstances that contributed to their flourishing. I will then proceed to illustrate how mechanisation led to a lower standard of quality in folk craft and eventually to its demise.

The second chapter is dedicated to Yanagi Soetsu, his life and the goals which he achieved. Accounts will be given of his early involvement with art, his friendship with Bernard Leach, which fuelled his interest in traditional folk crafts and the occurrences which led to his setting up of the *Nippon Mingeikan*, the Japanese Folk Crafts Museum.

The second part of my thesis deals with the philosophies and beliefs of Yanagi Soetsu. The third chapter will give an insight into Yanagi's thoughts on the beauty and appreciation of folk crafts. I will use relevant examples to illustrate Yanagi's methods of appreciation and will also at this point talk about the working ethics of the traditional Japanese craftsman.

aintos he oroquedion of 11 efectin and effect of accession enceder of most cases, that cape of their product of toroases, Fourier or enceder on each distribution a telepose objeven unding a point of correction vinorabit or betweet of or 11 five altered of a one consistment in the

Instrie unit biscovere in a societa aut danscobare al enacionaria e terendare acta codo, general er vio colocar de fisica de personatore end e-encauor era e messes in tre appropria an of tradica al follocare Amount teren a mainer. Presedent deservant man amounte caun er e autremps a momenta a son esta do Pommon de man antere caun er e autremps a instrem as on esta do Pommon de man a de teres e autremps a instrem as on esta do Pommon de man a de teres e autremps a instrem as on esta do Pommon de man a de teres e autremps a de teres esta do Pommon de man a de teres e autremps a de teres esta do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres esta do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres esta do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres esta do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres esta do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres esta do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres do Pommon de teres de teres de teres e autremps a de teres de teres do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres de teres do Pommon de teres de teres e autremps a de teres de teres de teres de teres de teres de teres e autremps a de teres de teres de teres de teres de teres de teres e autremps a de teres de teres de teres de teres de teres de teres e autremps a de teres e autremps a de teres e autremps de teres e autremps de teres de teres

The smooth dheele mands of point of 10 Markot Specials, the film and the goals which its equilaveal. Accousts will be given of this early myolocident with an his menutiple with Boorand Lawcon which trading his interest in reactional talk prains and the uppude reactivity for to his section of the Markot biogenetic the taptagete Hole Crafts Misseuri

(in structure set of the marks collarized in a collection and the set of recent 5 mean. The methodologie will give an object into market instructure of a coefficient approximities of the marks likely use mission were presented instant (coefficient of the instructure of the marks of will also at the point as and the vectors, bits and the instruction is tapped at the coefficient. In my fourth chapter I will give a description of what Yanagi predicted for the future of crafts in an industrial society, and what he believed the responsibility of the artist/craftsman was in order to further develop and encourage the growth of its production. I will draw on a relevant example of a contemporary designer, Kaj Franck, to support his argument.

In a four to transford at the light of the content of what is an a content to that to the observation of the observation of the content of the the base of the resolution of the observation of the content of the content of the encourage the growth of the stroduction that they us a relevant scample of a content and strained for franks to support his and the and the content of the stroduction that the and the and the and the content of the stroduction of the and the and the and the content of the stroduction of the and the and the and the content of the stroduction of the and the and the and the and the content of the strong of the stroduction of the and the and the strong of the strong of the strong of the strong of the and the and the strong of the and the strong of the str PART ONE



CHAPTER 1

JAPAN'S HISTORY: ITS EFFECT ON HER TRADITIONAL CRAFTS

Yanagi Soetsu (1889-1961) was born in Tokyo and grew to manhood during the late *Meiji* and early *Taisho* periods, a time of important historical and social development in Japan. Under the rule of the *Meiji* government, Japan had just gone through an almost overnight industrial revolution in 1868, one of the most rapid and dramatic transformations the world has ever seen, and by the early 1900s, was in the throws of Westernised industrialisation. As a result, this modernised industrialisation, which placed heavy importance on mass production and standardisation, practically destroyed the traditional crafts of Japan.

Growing up in this rapid time of change, Yanagi as a young man witnessed this huge influx of Western thought and realised its detrimental effect on Japan's traditional heritage, especially her many distinctive crafts. Compelled by a strong belief in cultural identity and appalled by this new wave of disowning, ignoring and discarding everything connected with the past which was sweeping across Japan, Yanagi made a resolution to devote his life to the preservation of folk crafts and to the re-education of the masses in its appreciation.

One may wonder why Japan so readily discarded her rich culture, only to replace it with one of industry and technology, but for a number of political and historical reasons, by the time the Meiji restoration came about, the Japanese as a nation felt that they had a lot of catching up to do.

For over two hundred years, Japan (see Figure 1) lived in self-imposed isolation, cutting itself off from the rest of the world and its economic and political activities. This situation first arose in 1587 when Toyotomi Hideyoshi, ruler of Japan at that time, issued a decree of expulsion against foreign religious missionaries. It was believed then, in official quarters, that

NETHAND

JAPAN'S INSTORY TREFFECTOR HER

Hores, Screeg (1883, 1966) Teacher, In Toleya and one on a schood due to the late will and each. Teising periods scattee to mounter historical and one development of legary threating candid scattee to the visit pover must suscent and use good reaction and and threating threating evolution to a scattee of the must be reaction and and the sector period back one of the must be reaction and the transition must be worth the sector to a scattee of the sector period to the transition of the sector has even of the sector of the transition of the sector has a period of the sector of the transition of the sector has a period of the sector of the transition of the transition of the sector has a contract sector of the transition of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the transition of the transition of the contract sector of the transition of the transition of the sector of the contract sector of the transition of the transition of the sector of the sector of the transition of the transition of the sector of the sector of the transition of the transition of the sector of the sector of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of the transition of the transition of the transition of the sector of

Commonqué de paré de contra autores de la vare perdunanza a monare parte de la contra aconta autores la vare perdunanza a arra a contra transper encerante autores la conjunction de la contrana de transporte de la contra activité parte autores de la contrana de la seconda e de la contra de la contra de la contra de la contra contra de la contra contra de la contra contra de la contra de la

One may no monimum espando destrivides and no lace, only na replete in with one of which by a devertion by the for a hardbar of political and historical reasons. By the time the Main restoration carrie about the lateger reader action tells has they had a trust restoration to re-

For one (in numbed vector) is particles higher () is of in self-moosed able for outlos real offer on the real of Ballyone and is a considered control adjuited. This chains fightered if 1697, when to to nom Highyers, paler of topon to the implicated provides to exputsion agains foreign follower addic after the sea believed that in officience of ma



Figure 1: Map of Japan. Taken from: *The Edinburgh World Atlas*, Edinburgh, John Bartholomew & Son Ltd., 1954.



the Spanish and Portuguese were using their religious missions as a pretence for the preparation of an armed invasion. Being anxious about security, his successor, leysau, intensified the expulsion policy until by 1689 all foreigners, with the exception of a few Dutch and Chinese, were denied entry into the country, the Chinese being confined to the city of Nagasaki, while the Dutch maintained limited access to their trading station on the artificial island of Deshima in Nagasaki port. The Japanese themselves were forbidden to travel abroad under a death penalty. So complete was the prohibition that not only did any trace of Christian influence vanish from Japan, but with it the outside influence of the Western world.

Another important factor to note is that before the *Meiji* restoration, Japan was divided up into provinces which were ruled by feudal lords, the Daimyo. These Daimyo acquired their land by way of the sword and collected taxes from their people in return for the use of the land, some of them enforcing certain labour restrictions on their subjects. Each fife or province of the feudal system was a self-sufficient, self-sustaining economic unit and existed in relative isolation from the other fifes. Travel between fifes was quite restricted, with border checking posts between each province, the result being that most people remained in their own village and maintained their role as part of the labour force.

Even though these situations seem guite harsh on the people of Japan, they did nothing but encourage their traditional crafts to flourish. Craft production was a local activity and each town produced its own speciality, with a distinctive style and technique. Due to the difficulty that travelling entailed, the craftsmen of one fife rarely interacted with those of another, thus keeping their own style unique and uninfluenced by what was being produced in the neighbouring provinces. It is interesting to note that in Japan, it is customary to refer to articles by the names of the places in which they were produced, so unique are her crafts, due to this feudal structure, that each product is recognisable from that made in another fife. For example, *Yuki* is a kind of *tsumugi*, or homespun silk, produced and distributed from Yuki in Ibaragi Prefecture. Another factor which contributed to this preservation of craft techniques was the fact that each Daimyo jealously guarded the technical secrets of the crafts people in his fife from those in the neighbouring districts, the reason being that his clan held a monopoly on the distribution of

A Specific part of the membrane manual control solution and a second of the second

No other the extended tables of each table to be each to the extended of the tables of tables of the tables of tables

their wares and to risk sharing information might result in a decline in income.

Due to this breakdown in communications, not only between Japan and the rest of the world, but also within her own social structure, the artisans who engaged in making folk articles just continued to make things as they had always done and, through years of practice and repetition, their techniques were constantly being improved and perfected, until every town had a labour force of highly skilled individuals and, although they were producing goods and utensils for everyday use, each product possessed its own flair and style.

The occupation of hand-making was very much a family affair, with trade secrets being passed down from generation to generation. The discipline behind hand-working was very strict and it was expected of all family members that they participate in any domestic activities, while children were brought up in an atmosphere where helping at an early age become second nature to them. And so the crafts flourished in Japan during the *Edo* period, with each fife supplying its own people with the goods necessary for day to day existence and it remained so until the *Meiji* restoration in 1868.

In 1853, US President, Millard Fillmore, sent Commodore Matthew Perry to re-open Japan. Perry arrived on her shores with a letter which he presented to the *Shogun*, demanding that Japanese ports be made open to foreign ships as a means of access to water and supplies and by 1854 a treaty was signed and two Japanese ports were opened to American ships. It did not take long until the English, Dutch and Russians followed suit and within a short space of time, foreign settlements with consulates were established at the various ports of Shimoda, Yokohama, Kobe, Nagasaki and on the northern island of Hokkaido.

Now, with the Dutch and Chinese monopoly broken, foreign trade increased so dramatically that, in Japan, shortages of certain products occurred, due to over-exportation. Importation of cheaply manufactures goods from industrialised Western countries were sold for much less than their handmade Japanese equivalents, resulting in a decline in demand and consequently unemployment. Although it was now the mid-nineteenth century, and America and Europe had gone through the industrial revolution,

In a contractive preservation option in contraction optimiser uspective and the reaction free worker during a second poster on usual managements and second paragraphic strategy and contracted to main and as the traction always more second contraction and second and repetition. The techniques are constant to an approved second portected, until a year to be to and of bigs visition of the paragraphic and repetition. The techniques to an of bigs visition of the paragraphic and repetition. The techniques to an of bigs visition of the paragraphic and repetition. The techniques to an of bigs visition of the paragraphic and repetition of the paragraphic and the usition even reaction of being tracked to be presented its own the paragraphic and the usition even reaction of the product on the second of the own the paragraphic.

The occupation of name analysis as yang much a ranny analy, with trade average of the particles in the promotion for a second of the diado and behind on devoting whethery alors and these are parted of as termin members that they approximate the statisticant in reacted of as termin and the total they approximate the statisticant of the second as a termin include to the company of the statisticant of the second as a second of a statisticant of the statisticant of the statisticant of the members the total of the statisticant of the members of the statisticant day and all the statisticant of the statisticant day and all the statisticant of th

e) 1950. Do Richtsone, Makeed Allinore, soortoarm ou im haathov framilio actoriant one Pression of an activity of shared all a sale immunitation exercise in the choose and the second of the trapany of early to made coordinations are shound at the choose of social to well and early to made coordinations are unred at the choose of social to well and early to fail to an allow and at the choose of social to well and early to made coordination and at the choose of social to well and the sole control as the approximation and at the choose of the well and and the control as the ordination and at the choose of the well and the sole control as the ordination and the choose of the sole of the sole of the sole control as the too and the sole of the

Notice in the Curca and Chinose monophysic of an increase in increased and an experiment of the part of orders are entity to control out one of the even experiment to the part of orders are entity to a control of the monoments of the monophysics were said for much the check the model spear even stored, resultion the desire in out the check of consequently una monoment with out if was provide an access with consequently una monoment. Withough if was provide an access with consequently una monoment. Withough if was provide an access with consequently una monoment. Withough if was provide an access with consequently una monoment. Withough if was provide an access with consequently una monoment. Withough if was provide an access with a consequently una monoment. Japan remained a medieval feudal country that had hardly changed since the early seventeenth century. A general feeling of humiliation swept across Japan. People began to feel dissatisfied with their government for letting these foreign barbarians impose their will on such a helpless nation, which culminated in a successful revolt against the *Shogun*, restoring the Emperor Meiji to power in 1868.

Convinced of the need for a strong central government and rapid modernisation, Meiji carried out a series of administrative reforms which brought about profound social changes in Japan and during the years following the Meiji restoration, Japan's industrial revolution occurred. Her government began inviting European and American engineers to set up Western-style factories geared towards mass production and ceramics, for example, that had previously been made by hand, were now being made in factories on a massive scale. During the first decade of the Meiji restoration, the Japanese welcomed and invited a huge influx of Western culture to their shores, with a view to mastering it, and they tended to neglect their own cultural heritage. Many traditional craftsman found little demand for their goods and most were forced to abandon their hereditary family trades and take up factory jobs. In 1871, Meiji abolished the feudal system, replacing the various provinces with modern prefectures. Japanese craftsmen found that most of their market and distribution system had come to an abrupt end and those who lived in more remote areas, who could not obtain factory employment, became redundant.

Luckily, the *Meiji* government fully subsidised exhibits of Japanese goods at international expositions, which were enthusiastically received by Westerners and this provided new employment for a lot of craftsmen. Many Japanese officials and craftsmen travelled to European expositions and brought back with them Western manufacturing techniques, such as the use of plaster moulds for ship casting. As well as these Western expositions, trade fairs at home encouraged a revival in Japanese crafts. Consequently, the *Meiji* government commanded the production of certain traditional crafts, such as ceramics, lacquer ware, ivory carving and cloisonné, for the foreign export market which was rapidly expanding, creating a huge demand for export items. These items produced for the foreign market were known as *hamamono*, *hama* coming from Yokohama, the port through which they were exported, and *mono*, the Japanese word for things (see Figure 2).

And the set of set of a field was readed on the transforment of the transformer of a set of a first of the set of the set

Conversad of the need of a sint or question of a series of administrative rate on who hordes is about action a series of administrative rate on who assure act a protocold series diserced in the entering of the protocold series of a series of administrative rate on a series of a doministration or an assertation diserced in the entering of the protocol series of a doministration or an assertation diserced in the entering of the protocol series of a doministration or an assertation of the protocol series of the entering of doministration of the protocol diserced to the series of the entering of description of the backgroup segmentation of the fore description of the entering of description of the backgroup segmentation of the fore description of the entering of description of the backgroup segmentation of the fore description of the entering of description of the backgroup segmentation of the fore description of the entering of description of the backgroup segmentation of the fore description of the entering of description of the transference of the fore description of the entering of description of the market of the entering of the fore description of description of the market of the entering of the fore description of description of the market of the entering of the fore description of description of the market of the entering of the fore description of description of the market of the entering of the fore description of description of the market of the entering of the fore description of description of the market of the entering of description of the description of the description of the description of the description of description of the descriptio

A servery the Mean government at the advances of a similar on the and a government of the rest of the government were a statement of the server were as an difference of the server as a statement of the server as an difference of the server as a statement of the se



Figure 2. *Hamamono* product. Taken from Sparke, Penny, *Japanese Design*, London, Swallow Publishing Ltd., 1987.



Unfortunately, *hamamono* were made specifically to pander to Victorian Western taste, and the could not have been more removed from the functional simplicity and natural beauty of Japanese traditional crafts. Sadly, they actually did more to further remove Japanese crafts from their traditional origins. Vessel shapes began to suffer when European styles, such as Art Nouveau, were thoughtlessly combined with traditional Japanese forms. There was an inconsistency and lack of restraint in *hamamono*, which were decorated over-elaborately, with a combination of academic European styles and traditional Japanese ones. Yet even more disheartening is the fact that many Japanese themselves began to display this Victorian "claptrap" in their own homes, as a further attempt to become modern.

As is obvious, the distinction between craft and industry was becoming distorted as modernisation continued to develop in Japan. Due to the fact that the government now viewed crafts as a branch of industry, not only for export but also for the domestic market, standardisation occurred and the unique character once so prevalent in traditional crafts began to disappear. The original word for crafts in Japan, *Kogei*, was now stretched to mean industrial technology and, in accordance with European practice, crafts were now thought to be inferior to Art. Consequently, the 1907, the government ceased to include any form of craft in Art exhibitions. On reflection, the only good thing to arise from the production of *hamamono* was the fact that it provided employment to numerous artisans, due to the traditional nature of the goods, and in some way, this saved techniques from extinction.

By the second decade of *Meiji* rule, a strong reaction to Westernisation set in and an upsurge in nationalism began. Many intellectuals, statesmen and artists began to object adamantly to this Western indoctrination, saying that the imitation of another's culture was demeaning to Japan and that Westernisation went against the teachings of the Shinto, Buddhist and Confucian religions. Finally, the Japanese re-assessed their own culture and began to build on their own great traditions. By the third *Meiji* decade, a healthy equilibrium was reached between pro-Western and pro-Japanese artists in Japan, which still exists today. The Meiji government began to directly involve themselves in developing the arts and controlled its revival through its selection of the curriculum used at the government universities, as well as through sponsoring art and craft exhibitions at home and abroad. Initialized and the source of made or estimation of the rough of the source of the

As a consult the distribution of the consult and induction was the consult and according to we make a large of the distribution fragment the fact of the final generatized, now meyod and its as a present of industry in number many industry ones to prove states as a present of industry in number industry manager ones to prove states as a present of a consult of the order of the detailed to an exception of the fact of the order of the detailed to an exception of the fact of the order of the detailed to accord to a fact of the industry manager ones to prove states as a distributed to accord to a state of the order of the detailed to accord to a fact of the order of the detailed of the detailed to accord to a state of the industrial (company of the detailed of the fact of the detailed of the

By the exposed decade of Addition in yoong abactup to Westministical action is the band as insuring a hautoreliam frager, Mary indeterministical action of entropy and a collect or remainly to 20% Western income to the severe of the which mist algorithes a subservers demonstry to 20% Western and the or esternisation, went equilable the demonstry of the Stando Endotust and Comboun cale on the lower oracle the demonstry of the Stando Endotust and branch to and on the lower oracle the demonstry of the Stando Endotust and here'ry equilation went equilable and expensioner to the Stando Endotust and control on the lower oracle the decade as the the time into Wey device and and there it is a standown to the device to an estimate the time into Wey device and device the decade of the decade of the standown of the standown to the oracle of the decade of the decade of the standown of the standown to the standown to the device of the device of the time of the standown to the device of the device of the decade of the standown to the standown of the oracle of the device of the device of the device of the device of the standown of the standown is standown of the device of the device of the standown to the standown of the oracle of the device of the device of the device of the standown of the standown of the oracle of the device of the device of the device of the standown of the standown of the oracle of the device of the device of the the standown of the standown of the device of the device of the device of the the standown of the standown of the standown of the device of the device of the device of the standown of the standown of the standown of the device of the device of the device of the the standown of And so, Japan's history played a very influential role in the existence of her traditional crafts, going from two hundred years of nurturing and protecting to an almost overnight contrast of disregard and rejection. Modernisation almost killed the traditional crafts of Japan in a very short space of time, but luckily they were saved from extinction at the very last minute, through the efforts of one man, Yanagi Soetsu.


CHAPTER 2

YANAGI SOETSU: HIS LIFETIME GOALS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

Yanagi Soetsu (1889-1961) was born in Tokyo into a wealthy background, his father being of high rank in the navy. He was educated at the Peers School and Tokyo Imperial University, where he received a degree in philosophy. Around the year 1908, having left college, Yanagi and his friends, some of whom belonged to the old *Kyoto* court nobility, set up a writers' and artists' group, called *Shirakaba*, the Silver Birch. The main aim of this group was to introduce Western literature, art and philosophy to Japan, by holding exhibitions and workshops, and by publishing related articles in a monthly journal also entitled *Shirakaba*. Many of Yanagi's writer friends who formed the nucleus of this group were later to become well-known Japanese literary figures, such as Shiga Naoya, Mushakogi Saneatsu, Kojima Kikuo and Satami Jun.

In the spring of 1909, the English artist, Bernard Leach, arrived in Japan, bringing with him an etching press, in the hopes of teaching the art of etching to some of the local Japanese. Having secured a studio in Sakuragicho, Tokyo, Leach set about advertising his lessons. Among those who attended were ten of the newly formed Shirakaba, including Yanagi Soetsu. However, it was not until the following spring that their friendship really began, when the Shirakaba group held an exhibition of mainly German artwork, to mark the publication of the first Shirakaba magazine in April of 1910. It seems that Leach was a regular visitor to this exhibition, attracted by the etching of Renoir and sketches of Beardsley and Rodin. Impressed by the quality of the work exhibited, Leach was often heard remarking on how superior these works were to anything shown in the annual Bunten Art Exhibition, a showing of work sponsored by the Japanese Ministry of Education. Leach felt that more people ought to come and view the Shirakaba show. It was then that Yanagi's liking for Leach began (see Figure 3).

C HAPTER 2

ANAGESOBYEU: HIS SPECTIME GOALS AND ACHEVENENTS

The provide the set of the set of the test of the test of the test of the set of the test of te

Notice of the second of the



Figure 3. Portrait of Yanagi Soetsu by Bernard Leach. Taken from: Leach, Bernard, *Drawings, Verse and Belief*, London, One World Publications, 1973.



The friendship between Yanagi and Leach grew rapidly, and for a time they became almost inseparable, each educating the other on the philosophies and ethics of their extreme cultures. For his part, Leach introduced Yanagi to the English mystic, William Blake, while Yanagi familiarised the Englishman with Eastern and Western mystics, as well as the art of Van Gogh. For a time, Leach became a constant contributor to the Shirakaba group, showing etchings in their Western art exhibition in 1911 and their Fourth Art Exhibition in February of 1912. He also designed a number of covers for the Shirakaba journal around that time, and was the first person to publish an article on Blake in Japan, in the April 1914 issue of the same magazine. Leach heavily involved himself in the preparation of exhibitions and became a leading advisor to many Japanese artists on the differences in framing Western and Japanese style paintings. As a result of his influential involvement with the Shirakaba group, Leach's artistic input was considered to be of vital importance to the art history of Japan in the late Meiji Period (1868-1912).

So influenced was Yanagi by Leach and the wealth of information this Englishman had divulged to him, that in 1914 he wrote a major book on William Blake, in whom he was especially interested. That same year, Leach left japan for China, disappointed with what Japan had to offer him, and with the way in which

the art of old Japan had passed away with the old life and that that which lingered on not only lacked all vitality, but was a hindrance to progress on new lines.¹

Leach also disapproved of Yanagi's and the Shirakaba's almost blinkered obsession with foreign art and their lack of interest in things Japanese. He was later to express these sentiments in an article which he published in the Tokyo Advertiser in 1918, suggesting that they might be "swallowing an overdose of revolutionary culture from the West."²

By that same year, Yanagi had managed to persuade Leach to leave his newly found home in Peking, China, and come back to live on his family

Moeran, Brian. Bernard Leach and the Japanese Folk Craft Movement: the formative years. Journal of Design History, Vol. 2, Nos. 2 & 3, 1989. Op. cit.

1

The identication calcumptive program of below many ruptice, and render the interminal distington approximation approximation of the principle of the main distortion in a and emiliar to the mean equipped approximation of the principle. Let approximate a the Statistic from star for the principle of the principle. Let approximate a the Statistic from star for the principle of the principle of the start of the start statistic from start approximation of the principle of the start statistic from start and the start of the start of the start of the distort start and when a start of the start of the start of the start of the from the start of start of start of the start of the start of the start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the distort start of the start

Estimation of Padroad Advert21 Parales designed a la la mosor et covers du the Property journal est una mainte des centras the tim overson 6 by oren in a which of Biosa in takien in the April 1994 lesses of the semeunescone (e.g.) to all v. everses himself in the overset don of everthelices and be sere brought of Biosa in takien in the April 1994 lesses of the semeunescone (e.g.) to all v. everses himself in the overset don of everthelices and be sere brought of Biosa in takien in the April 1994 lesses of the semeunescone (e.g.) to all v. everses to the set of the series of the semeunescone (e.g.) to all v. everses of v. everset and the set of the semicles of the series o

Husseld of all using the USS and swall with the old life and installed which inserted an our only lacked of value, but has emptioned by progress process (hes)

each as o esseptioned of Yanaqi's and are Shift's thats avriat arrivated or seven with "theigh an and unser lack of situes in mage. Internape Tis resitations express these and their fact of situes in mage. Internape Tis There Alter her in 1949 suggesting that they apply be textute wagen of a move of revolutionary builting that they apply be textute wagen

In the reme year, it and in addition of the reliance of the remember of the remember.

Access, Domaticipant Loss, and the Japanese Police of an extent the c tometries sense form (Fot Diardo History, 2017, 109). compound in Abiko, twenty-five miles from Tokyo. Leach did not readily accept Yanagi's invitation, and it was not until Yanagi himself went to China via Korea (his first trip abroad), that Leach finally succumbed. What happened to Yanagi on this important foreign excursion was not only going to affect him as a devoted follower of the arts, but also the future of traditional Japanese folk crafts. En route to China, Yanagi came into contact with a wealth of oriental tradition and culture which he had for so long chosen to ignore in his determined effort to educate himself on all things Western. This trip opened Yanagi's eyes to the wealth of beauty and culture that was readily available to him and allowed him to re-assess the value of recognising and encouraging the traditions of his own culture, one which, unlike that of the West, was rapidly falling prey to the clutches of modernisation. On his return from China in December of 1916, Yanagi expressed his desire to introduce Oriental, and not just Western, art to the *Shirakaba* journal.

When Leach first arrived in Japan, in the spring of 1909, he studied ceramics under Kenzan VI. By 1912, he had opened his own studio and was making his own work from start to finish. For this he was ridiculed by the Japanese, who believed that an artist-potter should create the design and do the decorating, leaving the job of throwing and trimming to a lowly assistant. His insistence, however, on making the entire piece finally filtered through the artist-potter community until eventually that particular method of work prevailed. When Leach set up studio and built a kiln on the Yanagi family estate, he began to explore and reflect more on the value and reward of solely making a piece in its entirety as opposed to a more co-operative method of production. Throughout the year he spent there, Leach and Yanagi talked at length about the problems which arise from the transition of local folk crafts into a modern industrial context, and the emergence of the self-conscious individual artist.

By the time Leach prepared for his return home to England in 1921, he had already instilled a will within Yanagi to preserve and respect the work of his own people. Through his love of things Chinese, he made not only Yanagi aware for the first time of Oriental traditions and culture, but also all the members of the *Shirakaba* group, practising potters, writers and philosophers at the time, who already had an outlet from which to proclaim this new sense of nationalism and self-respect. Leach's role as an instigator

accidination di Adria, Naribaky estates formito vical escundo provinci reaciesculi naregia indesion ancia visa uccondi in enseminael sendo China na Gaesa fa nel tur ancedor fine Lasco finaly succimical vica o sfield intresa acterica dictoviar antic anti, odi anche investidano calmenia tabene a toli creica frontale do di anche interato anti activite envesto di contalita incorte no dente vicabilita for tota activita estate estate a toli creica frontale di districto de la calma contento di tura sa acterica di contente di districto de la calma estate estate estatemente di calma vicabilita for tota presi di antica mestate di scienci di calma vicabilita for tota calma estate di acterica calma frontale di tura vicabilita for tota interatio di acterica mestate acterizza di tura di calma vicabilita for tota di calma di acterica di acterica di tura di calma vicabilita for tota di calma di acterica di acterica di tura di calma vicabilita for tota di calma di acterica di acterica di tura di calma di calma di calma di di acterica di acterica di tura di calma di calma di calma di acterica di calma di calma di calma di calma di calma di acterica di calma di calma di calma di calma di acterica di calma di calma di calma di calma di calma di acterica di calma di calm

Consider an any second of the second of t

A the arrol sector properted for the retembories to fatored an arrow arrow and an arrow arrow and an arrow arrow are not the sector of the

in this upsurge of neo-Orientalism came not a moment too soon, at a time when Japan wanted to reassert herself as being different from other similarly structured capitalist countries in the West. It is ironic that it took a Westerner to rekindle the flame of tradition in the hearts of those from the East, once more a case of greener grass, but it cannot go unsaid that Leach's friendship with Yanagi laid down the solid foundations on which the traditional folk craft or *mingei* movement was built.

In 1922, Yanagi published the first of his craft writings, on pottery, which he dedicated to his good friends Leach and Tomimoto, a Japanese potter who had been a comrade of Leach's and who now, like Yanagi, was pioneering the *mingei* movement. In 1923, Yanagi moved to Kyoto, following the great Kanto earthquake of that same year, and it was here, in the old city, that he wholeheartedly began his discovery of Japanese crafts. Yanagi's decision to exhibit a selection of *Yi Dynasty* ceramic ware in 1924 earned him the respect and support of many of Japan's leading artists, particularly Kawai Kanjiro and Hamada Shoji, two contemporary ceramists, who were soon to feature prominently in the formation of the folk-craft movement (see Figure 4).

By the following year, Yanagi began writing his first major book on crafts and the same year, with his new found potter friends, Kawai and Hamada, coined the term "mingei" to replace the traditional word for crafts, Kogei, which during the industrial revolution had been extended to mean industrial technology. This new word "mingel" was a derivative of the Japanese words for folk and art, and thus the true definition of mingei was: art of the common people. In 1926, Yanagi and both of the above named potters founded the Nippon Mingei Kyokai, the Japanese Folk Art Association, with Yanagi as its president. The Association began publishing a journal in 1931, entitled Mingei, with Yanagi as editor. Sixty-three years later, this publication is still being printed. Support for the Japanese Folk Art Association grew steadily and by 1936, they were able to establish the Nippon Mingeikan, the Japanese Folk Crafts Museum in Tokyo, with Yanagi as director, a position which he maintained until his death in 1961. Throughout the development of the Mingei movement, Yanagi frequently filled lecturing positions in universities, constantly making people aware of the developments and discoveries which he was making, and he spent two years at Harvard. between the years of 1928-1929, lecturing on Buddhist art and aesthetics.

In the upper upper of the Originalism come, and a shorten and short an appendix and the second se

A trace of the consequence of the first of the constant of the first of the constant of the



Figure 4. Photo of Hamada, Leach and Yanagi. Taken from: *Hamada, Potter*, London, Thames & Hudson Ltd., 1976.



The *Nippon Mingeikan* (see Figure 5) now has branches in Kurashiki, Tottori and Osaka and has become not only a haven for the relics of a past tradition and culture, but also one of Tokyo's biggest tourist attractions. Yanagi Soetsu was the backbone of the *mingei* movement. The adulation and warmth he received from the talented artists who knew him - Bernard Leach, Hamada Shoji, Kawai Kanjiro and Tomimoto Kenkichi - only goes to prove Yanagi's popularity and the sincerity with which people greeted him and his self-less devotion. It would not be an underestimation to say that, without the lifetime dedication of this one man to the art of the common people, very little would be left or known today of traditional Japanese folk-crafts. The legacy of artefacts and documentation on *mingei* which Yanagi left behind will be of value eternally, not only to the Japanese, but also to the rest of the world.





Figure 5. Photo of Nippon Mingeikan. Taken from Nippon Mingeikan Brochure.



PART TWO



CHAPTER 3

THE BEAUTY OF *MINGEI* AND THE WORKING ETHICS OF THE TRADITIONAL JAPANESE CRAFTSMAN

The traditional folk crafts of Japan are varied and cover many aspects of hand-making, ranging from ceramics, furniture, wooden utensils and iron ware to weaving, dyeing, papermaking and leather work (see Figures 6, 7 and 8). Although Mingei covers a myriad of techniques, they are all distinguishable by their simplicity, unself-consciousness, intimacy and sensitive use of natural materials. Produced by anonymous craftsmen for everyday use by ordinary people. Mingei objects embody the main characteristics of the Japanese temperament - directness, intuition and enthusiasm. These recognised Japanese traits developed as a result of the influence of the Buddhist and Shinto religions on the native Japanese. Buddhism came to Japan from India via China and Korea during the mid-6th Century. Although the Japanese accepted the religion, they rejected the Indian preoccupation with spiritual values and their belief that reality is illusory and they also tended to avoid the Chinese tendency to intellectualise. As a result, the Japanese remained more intuitive and emotional, dealing with things directly rather than philosophically.

Throughout his research and study of beauty, Yanagi Soetsu relied on, and referred frequently to, the ethics of Buddhism, which based its faith on meditation and intuition. To him, the ultimate beauty is one which is healthy and common. Aware that people might see this statement as an ordinary concept and a matter of mere common sense, Yanagi used well-known concepts in Zen Buddhism to illustrate his argument.

To be healthy does not simply mean to be physically sturdy. I do not mean strong versus weak, but rather to be normal and to be true to one's innate nature. The deepness of this state is explained best in records on Zen. The value of concepts such as *'buji'* (meaning 'without incident, calm, safe') and

HE BEAUTY OF MARGELARID THE MORTHN ELLICS OF THE TRADITIONAL JAPANESE CRAFTSMAN

(Incorportion Associate and stand of backly manage Source rejectors and events of the conducts for editing of Bugdhum Smitch back of the Reprovement mediation and intestors. To the University acts beauty is one which the date the common is well bits from the University acts this statement as an ordered concept and which is interaction particles and statement as an ordered concept and which is interaction to share the articles and concept and which is no share contation particles and concept and which is no share contation particles and concept and a Buddham to share contation particles are shared as a share the share the share contation of the articles and concept and the share contation of the articles and concepts and a buddham to share a share the articles and

(a) be needed, and a normal model to be presently model of more receivers share persuances, but categoric or nontelland ratios much care's inpute regions. The apparents of this ender sevenimes and in registrations for any 1.0 value of uppropriation autor at the (meaning) without category and and autor at the (meaning) without category and and



Figure 6. Example of *Mingei* objects. Arare iron kettle, diameter 28 cm. Postcard from the Nippon Mingeikan.





Figure 7. Example of *Mingei* objects. *Hidehira* bowl, lacquered peach wood, diameter 14 cm., Postcard from the Nippon Mingeikan





Figure 8. Example of *Mingei* objects. An *ainu* robe, silk appliqué, cotton, Postcard from the Nippon Mingeikan



'bunan' (meaning 'without accident, acceptable, safe') must be accepted to the realm of beauty as well. The reason I have thus preferred to use the characters *'kenko'* (meaning 'healthy') is to communicate this state of beauty.³

It was Yanagi's belief that this healthy beauty was the main characteristic in the realm of Mingei. To him, healthiness is naturalness, and a natural intention can only exist in a healthy environment. Healthiness stood for truth, honesty and freedom, all of which are characteristics of Japan's traditional folk crafts, and which make our everyday lives usual and therefore healthy.

For this reason, Yanagi often questioned the beauty of Fine Art and frequently called for its revision. He felt that the fine arts had too many unnatural intentions to create beauty and could therefore never enter the realm of normal, natural beauty.

Throughout my research of Mingei, I have come across opposition to this concept of Yanagi. Robert Moes, in his article "The Appreciation of Folk Art in Japan," slanders this concept of Yanagi, saying,

When one reads 'The Unknown Craftsman,' one discovers that Yanagi took his theories too far. He concluded that humble, anonymous crafts are superior to works by famous artists, who he considered self-conscious, egotistical and dependent on the whims of their spoiled, aristocratic patrons. We need not take this part of Yanagi's teaching too seriously, for it would mean rejecting most of the masterpieces of world art!⁴

To me, it seems that Robert Moes is not fully aware of Yanagi's belief and concept of beauty, for never once did Yanagi reject the fine arts. He merely questioned the intentions from which they were made. Indeed, in the earlier part of his career, he was responsible for the importation and publication of reproduced prints of the works of both Cezanne and Van Gogh, something that had never been previously done in Japan. In "The Unknown Craftsman," during his essay entitled "Towards a standard of Beauty," Yanagi says:

Soetsu, Yanagi. What the Mingei Movement has contributed, *Mingei - the standard of beauty*, Meigeikan handout from Spring Special Exhibition, April 13-June 27, 1993.

Moes, Robert. Mingei Japanese Folk Art, The Brooklyn Museum.

3

A start (received wheel) available (aptable) wheel must be establed to the colm of Sectory (as well). The merch is a new first contract, to use the queesters wells, in the plant wheel is contract, the entremer begins of the first (the first wheelve contractive the entremer begins of the sectory of the sectory of the entremer begins of the sectory of the sectory of the entremer begins of the sectory of the sectory of the entremer begins of the sectory of the sectory of the entremer begins of the sectory of the sectory of the entremer begins of the sectory of the secto

In work Yamay is defined to a transitivity beauty, you the inverse restriction of the activity of the second to the second to

reagner sesson () antig allementioned ()e beern of Fred at a requerts chied for disternation ho fell the the act had as many a vire stars internations to gradistice adgress could loare one never enter the reagn of notices, but religions

incustion and active accords of Margan Chain, ophic statest apposition to the S account foreast Rebail Mogazit his similar if he Active and Edit Na Capacit estimatory as **concept** of remain at viag

The provided based by Tormakies of Details assess of the angle part and concerted based by Tormakies of the against at the trade of the market quasicality of the intervious operation of the market the trade of the second of part of the part of the works of the book decemperation and publication of some bure based of the works of the book decemperation and publication of and needs of the works of the book decemperation and the book decemperation and needs of the works of the book decemperation and the book decemperation and the books based of the works of the book decemperation. The Unstruments and the books based of the book decemperation of beauty. Yes and the during the set of the book of the book decemperation of beauty. Yes and the during the set of the book of the book decemperation of beauty. Yes and the during the set of the book of the book decemperation of beauty. Yes and the during the set of the book of the book of the book of the book of beauty. Yes and the during the book of beauty. Yes and the during the book of the during the book of the during the book of the during the book of the book

See S., Yabagi, Mind D.A.M. and Mereorem and Anthrope Fronter Stored Sectors of Comp. Merge Cast. Antal. Rev. Appl. Spaced Schicklon. American Science 27.

to the state of the second state of the state of the second second

It is my belief that while the high level of culture of any country can be found in its fine arts, it is also vital that we should be able to examine and enjoy the proofs of the culture of the great mass of people, which we call folk art. The former are made by a few, for a few, but the latter, made by the many for many, are a truer test.⁵

Here one can see that Yanagi is in no way dismissive of the fine arts, but feels that they are reflective of a minority, and were made to please that minority, and, hence, do not maintain with his concept of the free, honest and natural beauty that is the basis of *Mingei* art. To him, fine arts did not have that sense of familiarity and intimacy that came from constant use, as Mingei did. They were not direct and intuitive responses to nature, but, rather, forced and intellectualised representations of a contrived beauty, which to him was unhealthy and dishonest. Again, in "The Unknown Craftsman," Yanagi makes reference to fine art as being more removed and dislocated from the heart and the intuition.

The special quality of beauty in crafts is that it is a beauty of intimacy. Since the articles are to be lived with every day, this quality of intimacy is a natural requirement. Such beauty established a world of grace and feeling. It is significant that in speaking of craft objects, people use terms such as savour and style. The beauty of such objects is not so much the noble, the huge or the lofty as a beauty of the warm and familiar. Here one may detect a striking difference between the crafts and the arts. People hang their pictures high up on walls, but they place their objects for everyday use close to them and take them in their hands.⁶

Shinto, the indigenous religion of Japan, has also had a huge influence on her traditional craftsmen. Being an ancient animistic belief, it teaches that a *Kami* or living spirit, is alive in every tree, rock, mountain and blade of grass. As a result, the folk craftsman had great respect for his natural raw materials, as did the Japanese who used his produce every day.

> A Japanese craftsman working with wood never rakes and scratches its surface with rasps and sandpaper. Instead, he trims it to its final form with razor-sharp planes and draw-

Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty), Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.

5

Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman, Form, Textures, Images, Iwamiya, Yoshida, Gage. $_{\rm A}$

Is my define the calculation to the triple tage of course of tage equation can be found in the first official as also areal that the should write as a found in the anomaly of the provide to the during of the desermons of peoplet which we call for the the terminations areas for a forwite patencies of the termination of the termination of the action independent.

hara-ne can see that a acaging in norway distribution to the ansist a submone and panes of a sumary, and the barrenets of the method monety and panes of additional with the barrenets in the tree, to real and more that severe of familiarity and intract instead. In the towe that severe of familiarity and intract, instead in the method in the severe of familiarity and intract, instead in the method in the severe of familiarity and intract, instead in the method in the severe of familiarity and intract, instead in the method in the severe of familiarity and intract, instead in the method in the severe of familiarity and intract in the method in the severe of familiarity and intract in the method in the severe of familiarity and intract into a severe intervention the severe of familiarity and interventions in a contract to a method in the severe of familiarity and distortions in a contract to the method in the severe of familiarity and distortions in a contract to the intervention in the severe of and the method in the second fine of the method is an intervention of the second of the second fine of the method is and the second and the second of the se

tion of the romagnous enigran of Lupan Tracaise tradit truck in terms of the indufformic contemen. Buildy th anototic entrication relies in sections in 200 Kentron Leng dotting airling the Lupiy result on Linduction and Usede of gras As a market the formulated in Deo grace respect tool te named too rotation conditions the section in Deo grace respect tool te named too rotations conditions the section in Deo grace respect tool te named too rotations conditions the section in Deo grace is produced on the rotation

Autoportesa cratistaso wakungsush wood never covos and sofriones ita sunede with raspisada eautorapatr instand nesindest to us mail faim with casto group planes and shaw.

eo mar Conecia (Le Calender & Mannen (K. Japaness Forch (E. 1997) Karanbe Etimorganet, 1972 S. 1967 Yaufar The Unitability Continuing Forces (1997) - Manual Schule knives. This produces a velvety smooth and absolutely flat surface that permits the colour, texture and grain of the wood to speak for themselves. Similarly, a Japanese sword polisher does not scratch up the steel surface with emery paper or steel wool, nor does he buff it to a high gloss with a cloth wheel and polishing compound. Instead he cuts across the crystalline structure of the steel surface with finer and finer grades of flat limestone polishing stones. This is an extremely meticulous and time-consuming process, but it permits the grain and temper pattern of the steel to show in a way that would be impossible with any other technique.⁷

As you can see from this excerpt, traditional making methods in Japan were often very time-consuming and repetitive. It was due to this fact, Yanagi believed, that the maker became absorbed in his work, and through repetition became unself-conscious and therefore unpretentious and non-individual, allowing the spirit of the man to take over the working of his hands, thus releasing the natural beauty or *Kami* that lived within the raw material.

An article written by Yanagi in 1926, entitled *Zakki no Bi* (The beauty of common objects), describes the relationship of the folk worker to his method of work and his raw material.

Although the Japanese folk artisan is poor and uneducated, he is a fervent devotee of his craft. While it is difficult for him to describe fully what he believes in, his surprising personal experiences are clearly expressed in the crude vocabulary of his work. And even though there is nothing unique or rare about his artistic technique, the essence of his creed is reflected in the objects he creates. Unconsciously, he is motivated by his belief in Kami (the spirit of nature) and seized by its indomitable force.

I can say the same thing concerning this dish that now absorbs my attention. It might seem to be something scorned as a poor or clumsily made object, since it is lacking in extravagant elegance and ornate stylisation. Because he was not self-conscious about what he was doing, the man who made this dish had not planned the final outcome of his creative effort. As though he were a passionate believer repeatedly chanting a god's name, he forms the same shape again and again, and time after time he paints the same

Moes, Robert. Mingei Japanese Folk Art, The Brooklyn Museum.

Autors 1: 20 parmits the opticus and the hot grain of the wood is a park for the measures. Similarly, a satisfies switch potential does got consists upting steel autors with a problem of the does got consists upting steel autors with a problem of the fine por strong compound. Insteam the upting the constitution structure and some substants for a soft fine operation of the fine store polisis and strategot in the structure of the fine store polisis and stores. Here is an autor the top and upper to the store construction of the store top date of the fine store polisis and stores. Here is an autor top date of the fine store construction of the stores. Here is an autor top date of the fine store construction of the stores. Here is an autor top date of the fine store construction of the stores. Here is an autor top date and store stores and the stores of the autor top date and store stores and the stores of the autor top date and store stores and the stores of the autor top date and store stores and the stores of the autor top date and store stores and the stores of the autor top date and store stores and the stores of the autor and the stores and store stores and the autor and the stores and store stores and the autor and the stores and store stores and the autor and the stores and store stores and the autor and the stores and store stores and the autor and the stores and store stores and the autor and the stores and stores and stores and the autor and the stores and stores and stores and the autor and the stores and stores and stores and the autor and the stores and stores and stores and the autor and the stores and stores and stores and the autor and the stores and stores and stores and stores and the autor and the stores and stores and stores and stores and stores and autor and the stores and stores and stores and stores and stores and autor and the stores and stores and stores and stores and stores and autor and stores and autor and stores and

A you can assign this excert, intrinces) maker memorially appear we what way the constituted and record or other actions as the record method can be set on the gradelet because althoropoon his work or grade conmonitory back as the set conscious control answer, interventities and nonindevention and the special of neurose to take over the working of his. Indevention the record of neurose to take over the working of his.

A second model and the second seco

Card Say, the sounds tothed concerning this card that now appendix ministering concerning this empetition, appendix as a box of submittering on a bisson since in submitter, appendix and a concerning meases of source selfments. Decause its was not concerning a source and a card to site in our concerning on measured, one include a prime is a particular to a concerning measured, one ministering a code prime is a train our concerning measured, one ministering a code prime is a train our concerning measured, one ministering a code prime is a train our concerning measured, one ministering a code prime is a train our concerning measured, one ministering a code prime is a train our concerning measured.

to be failed winder Jappen rearing Art The Billion Streams

picture on the vessel using the same glaze.

What is beauty? What is the art of the Kiln? We cannot expect him to be prepared with clear cut answers to such questions, but even though he may not have a thought out knowledge, his hands move rapidly at his work. And we could perhaps say that, just as the voice that speaks the Buddha's name is not actually the man's voice, but is that of the Buddha, so too the hands of the potter are not his own but are those of nature. Rather than the craftsman directing the work, it is nature that comes and protects its beauty. The craftsman has forgotten all worldly cares. As belief grows out of self-less immersion in faith, beauty springs forth spontaneously in the vessel he makes. His creation thus holds me in rapt absorption.⁸

It is this method of working and recognition of beauty which has caused me to become fascinated by Mingei and Yanagi Soetsu's concept of beauty. Since learning of the traditional working ethics of the Japanese craftsman and identifying with my own raw material, glass, I have developed a bond and an almost spiritual relationship with my work. I can fully empathise with Yanagi's theory of self-less immersion and intuition, as it has become a more prevalent pattern in my own working methods, and, as a result, I now feel stimulated and fulfilled by my medium, rather than seeing it, as I had previously done, as a dead and inanimate thing. Through my involvement with *Mingei*, I have grown to respect and understand glass and this has caused me to work with my medium rather than to struggle and fight against it. I now understand Yanagi when he said that alive handcraftmanship justifies itself as an intimate expression of the Spirit of Man.⁹

Although the realm of *Mingei* articles has many variations, I have chosen to describe two utensils, which I feel reflect the various traits and characteristics of *Mingei*.

The first is the *Chasen*, or tea whisk (see Figure 9). Used in much the same way as an egg whisk, the function of the *chasen* is to thoroughly mix the finely powdered green tea, used in the tea ceremony, in hot water. In Japan

⁸

Muraoka & Okamura. Folk Arts & Crafts of Japan, Weatherhill/Heibonsha, New York/Tokyo.

Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty), Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.

or rectain and for semigratine and four that even the

Albert of a second state of the second secon

It is that realized of work and exception of the second conception beaching to be an interface which the second of the second

Avenue that in a section of Mingry Addices has reactive active one canetal addices in the sections who company which i head pulled the variant price and menuory pages of Mingre

The fourts the Obseen, or gewhick (see Etiple M. Osed in mon second way as an ang which the repolence Metoplaten into the output products frees of which previous repoletion the tag observery in the releast friends o

A Receive Colore and Support Colores (Colores) Colores (Colores) Colores Colore Colores Col



Figure 9. *Chasen*. Taken from: Austin, Levy & Ueda, *Bamboo*, New York/Tokyo, Weatherill Inc., 1970.


today, there remain roughly a dozen *chasen* makers, most of whom are based near Kyoto, and who have inherited the trade from their forefathers.

The methods involved in the production of the *chasen* are complicated and involve years of practice. A section of bamboo is chosen, wrapped with a temporary binding and immersed in hot water for a few seconds. Once the bamboo is softened, the first splits are made in its upper section, and some of the outer rind is removed. Having done this, sixteen radial splits are made and these splines are then split concentrically, forming an inner and an outer ring. Then the inner splines are broken out and the interior surface is smoothed. Bending the splines backwards produces the correct curve at their base. The splines are then divided into tiny filaments, using a sharp blade. In good *chasen*, there are usually up to 120 filaments, although some have as few as 32. The insides of these splines are further thinned and their tops curved, which is done by holding the *chasen* briefly over steam. A thread is then passed alternately between the splines to separate them into inner and outer parts and the inner filaments are then tied together, forming a central core. This job was usually done by women (see Figure 10).

For me, the beauty of the *chasen* lies in its complete functionality. So often in our modern day society little consideration is given to the visual aesthetics of functional objects. The *chasen*, on the other hand, while fulfilling its utilitarian role, is a curiously beautiful object, with its delicate, gently curving filaments. When you compare it to a more modern whisk, you can understand Yanagi's belief in intimacy and the enriching effect that using a handmade object has on our daily lives. The *chasen* is valued and respected, as it is one of the few remaining folk craft utensils which is still being produced today.

The second utensil which I have chosen to talk about is the *Chatsubo*, or Tea Storage Jar. To me, *chatsubo* are the most beautiful of *Mingei* ceramics, mainly because of their full and satisfying form and their spontaneous glazes. I have chosen two *Chatsubo* to illustrate these characteristics; the first being made at Yatsushiro, in the Higo Province during the 18th Century or Edo period (see Figure 11). This *chatsubo* is made from glazed stoneware with a slip inlay, with a height of 16¹/₂ inches and a diameter of 12⁵/₈ inches. and there particle pulsible and appropriate matches most of when a start is a second start of the second start and the second start

In the second produce of second density of the d

1

An environment of the social fille control of the social sector of the sector of th

The second density and thread along a base of the fix of the distribution of the edge of the Text of the density of the text of the state of the most beautieu of the edge of the mainly because of the density of the state of the state of the state of the state of the distribution of the state of the density of the state of the state of the state of the distribution of the state of the distribution of the state of the of the state of the distribution of the state of the of the state of



Figure 10. Making process of *chasen*. Taken from: Austin, Levy & Ueda, *Bamboo*, New York/Tokyo, Weatherill Inc., 1970.





Figure 11. Yatsushiro ware *chatsubo*. Taken from: Moes, Robert, *Mingei - Japanese Folk Art*, USA, Universal Books, 1985.



The shape of this jar is, to me, very appealing. It creates a very sensuous and full impression. The lines created by the slip inlay seem to accentuate its form and give the piece a flowing, moving appearance. I particularly like the fact that the natural colour of the stoneware has not been covered over, but has been highlighted by the inlay of ivory-white slip, which I feel contrasts very beautifully with the rich grey clay. This method of slip inlay is known as *Mishima*. The effect is created when white slip is poured over a leather-hard clay form, which has incisions and depressions carved into its surface. When the slip sets, the excess is scraped off, leaving an inlay of slip in the depressions. Although the *mishima* on this particular *chatsubo* seems quite controlled, I feel that it gives the vessel an alive and vital presence. The neck of this *chatsubo* is cracked in several places and it has been repaired by filling the cracks with gold lacquer. This was the traditional way of preserving ceramics that were thought to be of good quality.

The second *chatsubo* I have selected is again stoneware, with a bluish white and an olive brown glaze (see Figure 12). It was made in the 19th Century or *Meiji* period in the Tohoku region, in the north-eastern part of the largest island, Honshu, and measures 61.8 cms in height. Again, with this tea storage jar, we are met with this full, rotund form. Although its shape is similar to that of the previous *chatsubo*, the basic form is slightly irregular and not as well-defined. I really like this sense of unevenness and asymmetry, as it gives the piece a sense of character and uniqueness. The contrasting blue/white glaze against the olive brown is very striking, and, again, the haphazard way in which it has been poured creates a definite sense of movement and fluidity. I am especially taken with the blue/white glaze, as, to me, it is reminiscent of the gushing flowing motion of a waterfall, and it gives the *chatsubo* a very fresh and vivacious feel.

Often, when I look at *Mingei* objects, I find it hard to acknowledge that these beautiful things are the products of human hands, for sometimes it seems that they could be the products of nature. For me, they overflow with life and vitality, rarely showing the signs of manipulation. I attribute this sense of freedom and aliveness to the sensitive way in which the traditional Japanese craftsman approaches his raw material, allowing it to be, rather than forcing it to become. For this, I will always greatly respect and continually be inspired by *Mingei*.



Figure 12. Yamamokami ware *chatsubo*. Taken from: Victoria & Albert Museum, *Japanese Art & Design*, London, 1986.



Without the direction and teachings of Yanagi Soetsu, I might never have come to recognise the beauty in these common objects, or, indeed, the beauty and value of my own work. Discovering and researching the work of Yanagi Soetsu has had a cathartic and lasting effect on my attitude towards my work and crafts in general and I intend to continue investigating and studying his teachings and philosophies throughout my career. Mithelly the direction and Leadings of Yanagu Boars, Union (Index), it is soluted to use in the second s

CHAPTER 4

7

YANAGI'S ADVICE TO THE ARTIST/MAKER ON THE FUTURE OF CRAFTS IN INDUSTRY; REFLECTED IN THE WORK OF THE FINNISH DESIGNER, KAJ FRANCK

As well as writing prolifically on the subjects of traditional Japanese folkcrafts and the beauty of common objects, Yanagi devoted a lot of his time to contemplating and writing about what he believed to be the future of crafts. Having grown to manhood during rapid industrialisation, Yanagi witnessed the effect that mechanisation was having on craft production. He also saw, as a result of industry, the emergence of the individual artist/maker. These two occurrences caused Yanagi to worry frequently about the direction in which the crafts were moving, and their future, should the prevailing situation persist. In his book, "The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into Beauty)", he devoted a chapter to what he believed were the necessary steps which the artist/maker had to undertake in order to protect the future of crafts in an industrial society. This essay, entitled "The Responsibility of the Craftsman," illustrates a number of points which Yanagi felt were the essential guidelines for the individual artist/maker, if the crafts were to survive and flourish in industry.

On the whole, I have found Yanagi's suggestions very interesting and worthwhile, although there have been times when I have felt that his advice is too idealistic and valid only in a utopian world. I, myself, have spent a sizeable portion of the last nine months working as an artist/maker in an industrial factory environment, and there have been times when I have found Yanagi's recommendations invaluable to the outcome of the finished item. On the other hand, there are points of his argument which I can appreciate, but which I feel would be almost impossible to put to practice in our modern industrial context. Although I have the experience of working in a factory situation, I feel that my knowledge in this field is limited; but I hope that, as

PANGES LOVIDE TO THE MATISTINAL ER O THE RUTURE OF STRAFTS IN INCLETTES ASELECTED IN THE WORK OF THE FINNIGH DESIGNER, KAJ FRANCI

A series as using prelitically on the subjects of non-article to physic the reconfiguration beauty of controls depends. Variable presented to be the other branch configuration of writing induit what he balaxies to be the output of branch having doown better each on the second on the figuration. Yakaog with each manifest the restrict each on the second on the figuration of the second as a reaction induced for the strategies called the transmitter of the second which the dealers of the strategies called writing the second of the second which the dealers of the strategies called writing the second of the second

On the voice in sector wide an que aboot staboot very mercang and worthwells although these device dated bracks ment have rain rates active at house dealer or down or only of a promise front for well, inside a profit whether is brothon of one feel and a promise front oper, an antisprese press or whoemap radioty of normalised and and raine borrer oper, an antisprese press or the antispress of the feel and a months borrer oper, an antispress press or the antispress of the feel and a months borrer oper, an antispress press or the antispress of the feel and a months borrer oper, an antispress press of the sector feel word of the stabiots to the constraints when a constraint of the where feel word is a stop of a of the constraints where it is nonbor where feel word is a stop of a of the constraints where it is nontrained to be where feel word is a stop of a first out of the too and to be house reconsers. Although the word has been all to be too too too a portagetee and the stop of the stop of the stop of the field is building by the stop of the sto my career progresses, the suggestions of Yanagi to the artist/maker will become more clear and applicable to me.

Yanagi was aware that, since the Industrial Revolution in Europe, most forms of traditional manual work had been obliterated and replaced by machinemade produce, which, to him, did not offer that sense of intimacy that handmade objects did. He knew that this was not only due to the limitations of the machine, but also to the fact that they were being used commercially to make enormous profit. To him, there were three main points which would have to become the basis of craft production in industry, if the crafts were to develop and surpass the design level of the machine made items that people were growing to accept.

The first necessity, according to Yanagi, is that a large number of conscientious individual artist/makers emerge, their function being to protect the beauty of crafts. Yanagi had a very high expectation of what a conscientious individual maker should be:

An artist should be a proper appreciator of beauty, also its creator, and, in a word, a genius. Our aesthetic culture will improve to the extent that such active men of genius appear. They must be qualified with the right sensibility towards beauty; sufficient technical training; scientific knowledge, which is indispensable to crafts; strong will and passion; creative talent.¹⁰

As you can see, Yanagi's idea of an artist requires the artist/maker to be competent in a broad number of specialised areas. To me, the reality of one individual being able to fulfil all these requirements at once is not impossible, but will take a very special and devoted person, and will only evolve after years of experience. The likelihood of large numbers of these so-called conscientious artists emerging together, to me, seems rather slim, due to the extensive knowledge they must acquire. At the same time, I can appreciate Yanagi's suggestion that, as our aesthetic culture improves as a result of the input from these conscientious artists, more like-minded artists will appear.

Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty), Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.

mu career piperete eco me a ognetions of Venegi or the minateriol with Score eo more near etal avairabilate me

In a first mechanik eccar and to fandate is that a store, which all ours and that a solwtous faither that an energie from function trans to violed for dealer to date? A read his on any find exception of where f convertication and violation and that all and other solutions.

Au you can be a laterage treater the equilation and the advected of the tornoom the a laterage beneficient to be appended to be as in the meridation of the induction being able to fulfit all tobate requirements and the international broad to be applied to fulfit all tobate requirements and to international peaks of appended into the the theory of the test of the test of the second state when the test to the test of the test of the test of the second state and the test of test of the test of test of the test of test of the test of test of test of the test of tes

autori. Yannyi TonOradovi Di Laman Milanin sa Indoli Sin Indolesia. (niyon Animeta Mamaidrei Ni Yanagi's next point was that, unless society acknowledged and respected the value and importance of these conscientious craftsmen, it would be impossible for them to work to their best ability.

> Whether artists can do good work or not depends chiefly upon society. Both in Europe and America for a long time painters and sculptors have been socially acknowledged as 'artists.' It is only recently that craftsmen also have received the same recognition. It is quite doubtful if people in general look at a pot with the same respect as they do at a painting. Without the recognition of society, even the greatest artist cannot do sufficient work, because he has to face constant economic anxiety.¹¹

I am very much in agreement with Yanagi's thought on the importance of societal appreciation of the artist/maker. In Scandinavia, the general public have been educated to respect and appreciate the value of well designed industrial or handmade objects, and design practice within industry has been given the room to expand and flourish. I feel in parts of Europe and particularly in Ireland, it is only a minority who respect and appreciate the quality of well designed and crafted objects. As a result, production has become somewhat stagnant. To me, it seems to be something of a vicious circle for, if a country has a low standard of living, such as Ireland has, the appreciation of well designed craft objects becomes something of an élitist pursuit. This is not to say that the general public do not spend money on expensive production items, for they do, but their patronage tends to be more directed at the large well-established companies, who make what is perceived to be produce of a high standard, and which has a long traditional or social standing.

Yanagi believed that the only way to combat this situation and to improve the attitude of society was through increasing aesthetic and cultural awareness at school, by making the study of their appreciation part of the basic curriculum. To him, modern day school education tends to place more emphasis on developing the intellect and, as a result, awareness of cultural identity and tradition suffer.

11

Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty), Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.

ran-yi'ə nəkipənit vasifinə ünləsi sobəly, olunomayqet und raqos sir De valur abd matchahça olunosa obisasını qua malistica ör yuvid tə n matsadıa (celikati teksori ya itteliritusi ərilmi

Mostan antisti can borgood workoland na enter dheft and social. Born in trancost and America interning lime called and statistics national called a social mainterpart of a bord his only sate of that called not interaction of the his second of a social field and called a social interaction of the second field of the data of the mainterpart of haut the recommendation of the generation of the second of the data of the generation of the second of the data of the generation of the second of the data of the generation of the second of the second of the generation of the second of the second of the generation of the second of the second of the generation of the second of the second of the generation of the second of the second of the second of the generation of the second of the sec

All and an include spreaked with regard and obtained the model and obtained to the present output of the present output out

Yamani 3 Hered instrite opty Yok in compatible shabin on 130 mprovadne statilie of some years the opty Yok in compatible shabin and out that averant se at 21 one y making the stoay of their appreciation of the basic numerity of the metamos stoay of their appreciation matter basic companience of the metamos solution and as present werenees. Contrally companient set to during the intellect and as present werenees.

toeran historye Taella Menya Graftaran (Alamanase a ann an aeera). Tosso A historia huarmanae 4872 His third suggestion was that intense co-operation should be considered between the individual artists and industrialists of machine production. Through witnessing social and industrial development, Yanagi became aware that handmade products alone would not be able to meet the demands of the rapidly increasing population, or to compete with the low prices that were being charged for machine made items. Consequently, he felt that it was necessary for the artist/maker to have a connection with machine production, in order to reform and improve its quality. If a designer in industry creates excellent designs, the products that are sent out into the market will be of excellent quality. But if the standard of design is low, the quality of produce will be low and therefore bad design will flood the market. For this reason, Yanagi saw the job of the designer as being of ultimate importance to the future of crafts. He felt that companies should respect and recognise the important position which the designer holds and avoid letting commercialism and profit margins restrict his designs.

To him, the ideal situation would be that where the designer works alongside the men of technology, so that the designer acquires the scientific knowledge to recognise the capacity and restrictions of the machine. The industrialist can educate the artist on the quality of materials, the aim of the product and the natural forms and colours suited to machine production. In return the artist can apply his freedom and originality confidently, avoiding forms and materials which are unsuitable for machine production. With his newly acquired knowledge, the artist/designer can then strive to produce objects that are aesthetically pleasing, functional and which will assist us in our daily living, thus creating a better quality of life.

I feel that Yanagi made a very valid point in encouraging the artist/designer to work in co-operation with the industrialist. In my own experience of working within industry, one of the main problems which arose repeatedly was the difficulty of translating the designer's submission from paper to the three-dimensional finished product. This was due to lack of knowledge, on the designer's behalf, of the capacity of the raw material with which he was working - in this instance, glass. The outcome of this situation was a huge waste, not only of raw materials, but also of design and production time. Again, with my own design submissions for industrial production, many changes of form and scale had to be made in order to produce the suggested items, due to my lack of knowledge of machine production, also

2

Not reserve indicated, and their heaves an operation of our the constraints, or other and the constraints, and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and their developments, target to action of the other and the other and the other and the other action of the other and the other action of the other and the other action of the other

And a construction of the second state of the second se

resulting in waste. I firmly believe that, unless you understand the working properties of your raw material, particularly when designing for machine production, it is impossible to create objects that are practical, functional and pleasing to the eye. To me, it is of vital importance, if the quality of machine produced crafts are to improve, that large companies realise the necessity of employing good designers. They must encourage this co-operative working environment, not only from a profit point of view, but also to improve the standard of living. As a young emerging designer, I find Yanagi's suggestions very relevant and informative for my future as a craft artist/maker. Inspired as I am by his viewpoint on the future of crafts in industry, I feel that large production companies are not taking on the responsibility of keeping a keen eye on contemporary craft design and are not making use of the wealth of young, talented designers who graduate from college each year. Unless this situation improves, I feel that my ability as a designer will not be pushed to its maximum potential and that the design of machine produced crafts will remain somewhat stagnant and outdated.

When one looks at contemporary design success stories within industry, Scandinavia has always been considered to be one of the pioneers. Finland, in particular, has produced some of the most conscientious and successful designers of all time, one of the most renowned being Kaj Franck (1911-1989) (see Figure 13). When observing Franck's design ethics and the way in which he dealt with machine production, many parallels can be drawn between his approach to design within industry and the suggestions made by Yanagi on the same issue. It is for this reason that I have chosen to write of Franck's design success, although it is unlikely that he was ever influenced by Yanagi Soetsu, and I have not been able to find any documentation to suggest otherwise.

Throughout his career, Franck was always at the forefront of design for industry. At the age of thirty-four, he took up the position of designer for Arabia, Finland's largest pottery and porcelain factory, and, having been promoted to the position of artistic director, he remained working there until 1970. While working at Arabia, Franck also held a design post with Nuutajärvi Glassworks, where he also became artistic direct until 1973, when he left the company. In addition to holding both of these positions, Franck esuare en comparte de la constante de la conserva d

The voice his create detector always at the part and at design from a success the age of price store. In cost, up the part and a design from readed. A mender leggest policy and adress an include the readers and provided to the exciting of arts to the cost of the center of the test of the test of the test to the exciting of arts to the cost of the center of the test of the test of the test to the exciting of arts to the center of the center of the test of the test of the exciting at arts to the center of the center of the test of the test of the test of the exciting at arts to the center of the center of the test of the test of the test of the test of the action of the exciting at arts to the center of the test of test of the test of tes



Figure 13. Photo of Kaj Franck. Taken from: littala Finland/Arabia Finland Brochure, Helsinki, Hackman Tabletop Oy Ab.



was also artistic direct of the Institute for Industrial Art in Helsinki from 1960 to 1968.

One may wonder what was so unusual and special about Kaj Franck's design capacity, for him to occupy so many situations of high esteem. His success can be attributed to his "search for the pure, enduring and basically straightforward relationship between man and industrially produced objects,"¹² and in his unswerving resolve to design and make timeless anonymous products.

Like Yanagi, Franck believed that the beauty of an object lay in its functionality. He once said, "Isn't the ultimate meaning of beautiful necessary, functional, justified, right?"¹³

Franck echoed this statement in the objects which he produced, which were ultimately utilitarian and self-justifying (see Figure 14). The main basis for his designs stemmed from his desire to create functional items which blended so well into day-to-day living as not to be noticed. He hoped that the beauty of the object would distract the viewer from the thought that the object had actually been designed. This philosophy is very much on a par with that of Yanagi, and supports Yanagi's theory on the beauty of functionality, the quality of intimacy and the enriching effect that using such items has on our daily lives.

Franck's desire to create objects of anonymity is also something which Yanagi advocated to the artist/maker. Yanagi strongly opposed the signing of pieces by individual artist/designers. Although he did not think it was wrong, he felt that signing one's piece revealed a sense of attachment, which went against the notion of self-less immersion and non-egocentricity. To him, the signature was also a form of self-advertising and pandered to the needs of the buyers and critics, because the public respects and often values a piece simply because it is signed. Signatures went against Yanagi's theory that beauty can only stem from freedom and he believed that in signing one's name on a piece, the beauty of the object died, because it now drew attention to itself and entered into the realm of self-consciousness.

¹² Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.

¹³ littala, Finland. Arabia Finland Catalogue on Kaj Franck. Hackman Tabletop Oy AB, Helsinki, Finland.

en analista preci at he heriale for anderine and a destruction of

Comment wonder woeld value so proventable in the policital above the managements design respects the nice to one provide them, since there is the managements one are then be after build for the investor form became restricted by the management of the policitation for the management of the provide and management of the policitation of the management of the provide and provide in the policitation resolve to design and make the lease of the policitation.

EALS CALLS IN France, or Levis dated metabolity of an operation in the anoticity and the operation of the solution and the analysis areas and of the solution in the analysis areas and of the solution in the solution.

Lori tradori Sevel A dealmost astorasen attaca Anna Auronae, mendina ao 3 1993 Inda Plantas vesta endanticada lastro entra Porte Inden an Tiblarco (1934) Inda Plantas



Figure 14. Carafe. Kaj Franck, Nuutajärvi Glassworks, 1954. Taken from: Siltavuori, Eeva, A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.



The most beautiful work will be completed when the artist entirely absorbs himself and his honour in his work. It does not mean killing himself; on the contrary, it is the best way to keep alive. But if he sticks to himself or is restrained in some way or another, he cannot freely make his objects nor give them true meaning. Without freedom, there is no beauty. Beauty will be accomplished only when complete freedom is acquired. Most of the artist craftsmen are the slaves of artistry.¹⁴

Franck mirrored this belief when he said that the considerations of the object itself, as such, should not be the aim of the designer. To him, the designer's aim should be "the creative solution to the problem in hand."¹⁵ This statement only serves to further emphasise his belief that objects produced for everyday use should remain anonymous. Franck often expressed his difficulty in coming to terms with the fact that the industrialisation had turned the design of utility objects into a battlefield for the designers own need to express himself:

It bothers me that designers of utility ware seek to approach art.¹⁶

Throughout his career, and despite his success, Franck always marketed his produce under the company name and never once signed any of his work.

The need for individual affirmation which grew from self-consciousness was something which frustrated him and which was in total contrast with his own striving to understand the essence and meaning of the object.

The purpose of design is to serve people, whereas nowadays, people tend to serve design.¹⁷

With regard to working as a designer within industry, Franck, for a time, broke down many of the previously existing barriers. Aware of the fact, as Yanagi stated, that industry and technology puts constraints on the craftsman, in the form of his use of skill and materials and on the designer, in

¹⁴ Soetsu, Yanagi. *The Unknown Craftsman*.

¹⁵ littala, Finland. Arabia Finland Catalogue on Kaj Franck. Hackman Tabletop Oy AB, Helsinki, Finland.

¹⁶ Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.

¹⁷ Op. cit.

Instrue, Leaning work with be contained. The element which such some every and the contained much which the element of the contain of the contained much set where we can be added to the control from the much set of the at of a point the control from the contained much set in an element of the control from the contained much at or at the added be the control from the contained much them two meaning. Much of from the contained much them two meaning. Much of from the contained much them two meaning. Much of from the contained much them two meaning. Much of from the contained much them two meaning. Much of the added on the much set of contained. Much of the added on the much set of the built of the source of the added on the contained much set of built of the added of the added of the source of the contained of the built of the added of the added of the source of the built of the source of the added of the source of the built of the source of the source of the source of the built of the source of the source of the source of the source of the built of the source of the source of the source of the source of the built of the source of the source of the source of the source of the built of the source of the source of the source of the source of the built of the source of the so

A constructed this belief whet the start that the constructions of the onion of a construct back on the transformation of the construction of the design of a second back to creative soluble. Taking provident in rand, 17 this design only solved to unterformation taking the belief of the oriental produced for every due to struct references and the belief of the oriental produced for every due to struct references and the belief of the oriental produced for every due to struct references and the belief of the struct struct of the desired of the the formation of the formation of the struct the desire of the best sign a balleshold for the dauge active produced at the desire of the best sign a balleshold for the dauge active produced at the desire of the best sign a balleshold for the dauge active produced at the desire of the best sign as balleshold for the dauge active produced at the desire of the best sign as balleshold for the dauge active produced at the desire of the best sign as balleshold for the dauge active produced at the dauge of the balleshold for the dauge active produced to the attruction.

some un pavare in trusmared this 40 p. 25 ch. 22 in totel, controls in a own month to independ the expense and treeshing of the college

> une purpore al davignire (disoné people, viletavé novertave, poopla tead to setve dissign?

Wijn movid is working as ordesigner vacanticating Fordow for a time, a roke downward or the broklous we debing partners, Earare of the Bob and the businessed their moustry and technology puls constrains on the statistical in the long of the cise of subjancing tests and control designer. I

Lista Polano, Nato a Pinisha Gatalagua ou Kaj Etoroko Musimika, 1966to Ok AS, Helshor, Polanda.

Service Court A press of a Image's episor home, Fabruar Provider 3, 1975.

that he is forced to work within the restrictions of an industrial process. Franck, while working for Arabia, challenged and overcame those limitations. At that time, Franck was lucky enough to be working with a team of strong designers who shared many common goals. This sense of team spirit and unity gave him the support that he needed to launch a new and radical table service which he had been designing (see Figure 15). The object of this new "Kilta" service was to upstage the concept of integrated services, the forms being so basic and reduced that other objects, such as part of old services, would not look out of place on the same table. Initially, the Arabia management team had reservations about launching the product, but once the "Kilta" service made a breakthrough in the market (by 1975, 25 million pieces had been sold), the factory management gave the designers a freer hand. For the rest of the time that Franck worked with Arabia, marketing did not intrude on the work of the designers and he recollects this time as being of ultimate reward and importance to the rest of his career.

> As a member of a small group, a designer experiences the close intimacy that stems from creative interaction ... the division of roles loses all meaning and everything is subordinated to the common goal.18

Yanagi Soetsu also firmly believed in the value of the individual artist/designer working co-operatively with other artisans, as he felt that the individual artist should be socially conscious enough to accept the responsibility of leadership, guidance and protection of his neighbouring artisans.

> The individual artist should feel that his new mission is to work together with many other artisans. Though the work that no one but he can produce naturally has its value, nevertheless, the essential aspect of practical art is to be found in the presentation of the individual artist, together with many other artisans. To absorb the individual character in a union of artisans, or in other words to revive the individual artist in a united co-operation will be necessary. We call him the individual artist, because he generally lives by himself, but the artist in the future should sometimes live outside of his ivory tower.19

¹⁸ Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, Form, Function, Finland, No. 3, 1987. 19

Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman.

The first sector of the sector of the respective of the router of process react, while work react. A task, while upon and one can be readed, in the end of a local field way that you and in the work of a react of the react the process with the sector of the process part of the standard with a first of the sector of the process process of the standard of the reacter with the sector of the sector of the sector of the standard of the reacter with the sector of the sector of the sector of the reacter with the sector of the sector of the sector of the reacter with the sector of the sector of the sector of the reacter with the sector of the sector of the sector of the reacter with the sector of the sector of the sector of the reacter with the sector of the sector of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the sector of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the sector of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the sector of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the design of the reacter (b, 10 °C % and and the reacter of the design of the design of the reacter of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the sector of the reacter of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the design of the reacter of the react

If in induces the participation of the house of the house of the second with their participation of the second of the second

sitements, freed, a docate of a time, examinents (), in Francesa Present to po frances a source the composer constraints



Figure 15. Kilta service. Kaj Franck, Arabia Finland 1953-74. Taken from: Siltavuori, Eeva, A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.



Yanagi's beliefs in the necessity of cultural and traditional appreciation were also a main concern of Franck's, when it came to designing. To him, "tradition could be a cage which imprisons and restrains, but at best, it can be a spring that gushes forth new strength." ²⁰

Franck constantly referred back to the past when designing utility objects, and often spoke fondly of the anonymously mass produced objects created during pre- and early industrial times.

Their manufacture exploited the means of the new technology, but their forms referred to neo-classical economy of expression and to meticulously studied everyday articles whose origins were way back in the handcraft tradition ... In fact those anonymous objects ... should be looked on as early classics of industry. ²¹

To Franck, making use of tradition was not to imitate, preserve or regress, but was the "gushing spring" which could give rise to fresh, new and successful designs (see Figure 16), so long as it was considered as part of general cultural development.

Yanagi Soetsu died in 1961, at a time when Kaj Franck had established himself firmly as a pioneer of utility design in industry and was reaping the benefits of his conscientious working methods. It is quite unlikely that Franck was influenced by the philosophies of Yanagi, as the first English edition of "The Unknown Craftsman, (a Japanese insight into beauty)" was only published in 1972. It is fascinating to think that while, on one side of the world, Yanagi Soetsu was writing his beliefs on the future of crafts in industry, Kaj Franck, on the other side, was actually putting those thoughts into process. What seems even more incredible is the almost identical approach to production in industry that both individuals had, as if some form of telepathy had united their views together. I am sure that if Yanagi Soetsu had lived to witness the outcome of this predictions, reflected in the successful working ethics of Kaj Franck and to hear these words from the "conscience of Finnish design," he would have felt some optimism for the future of crafts and a deep sense of reward for his lifetime dedication.

 ²⁰ littala, Finland. Arabia Finland Catalogue on Kaj Franck. Hackman Tabletop Oy AB, Helsinki, Finland.
²¹ Siltavuori, Feva, A dream of a timeless object. Form. Function, Finland, No. 3.

Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.

Yanagua periata instrumentation of obligation and and burst auguate anon-were also provate all concess of Transitionen un carrie to designing it when "tradmismobule instrumentation instruments and restrains, act all overst discals be all spin shed of environment new research."

rundi opperanterpera book us the pass when designing until unter energy in selver courte tready on the excerning selection and the product of the energy turno pre-vard early inpus that endergy

(A) an electric el picite de pagne di filiero actividor, subscett lemit telenequis sub-descuel activites vices basicado el coste activitado desena activites vices analte viele respisivos indus handdea tradicas. En en dese activitados coste el locitod de asservo de si coste de dificiencia.

o Francisco nectino use or codador was norto unitaria presione activitaria but we the fousibility spring spring which double twice (sector to the historiae) autous stut developenesis Fring and a sociario contains comparadors period double or rest developenesis (sector)

Construction of the second second matched and second matched and second matched and the second matched and the second matched and the second second matched and the second matched matc

1


Figure 16. Porcelain Condiment Set, Kaj Franck, Arabia Finland, 1956. Taken from: Siltavuori, Eeva, A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function Finland*, No. 3, 1987.



Nobody believes anymore that the world can be transformed with a beautiful everyday object, but still we continue to see and sense in many objects inspired by the ideal of 'beautiful utility ware' their profound social message; that dream of a better more beautiful and more real world.²²

22

Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.

Nobudy peletes environe that the world bar be tested from a will a hostilitit submary object bur attrive concruents see and notaers may objects insport by the deal of bearlind officy view inter porticipal social statistics may broke of the barter more participal and more real world is

CONCLUSION

Throughout my research of Yanagi Soetsu, his *Mingei* movement, and his philosophies on beauty and the future of crafts, even though I found his thoughts and suggestions very interesting and valid to my own work as an emerging craft designer, I was anxious about the credibility of his argument, because of the fact that he was never a maker or designer himself.

Having familiarised myself with the work and achievements of Kaj Franck, and having recognised the almost identical similarities between both men's visions and goals, I now look on Yanagi's guidelines to the artist/maker of the future in a more directed and convinced manner. The fact that Franck has qualified Yanagi's theories, by unconsciously putting his philosophies into an actual and successful reality leads me to believe that Yanagi Soetsu has left an invaluable legacy to the world of crafts; one which should not be discarded due to its philosophical nature, but absorbed and digested by all who wish to participate in the future of craft production.

Having completed this study, I feel that I have developed a deeper understanding of folk crafts and a keener sense of design, which I aim to nurture and put to use in my future work. Appreciating the working ethics of the traditional Japanese craftsman and Yanagi's concept of beauty has caused me to become more stimulated by my field of work and I am now eager to explore my capacity as an artist/maker within an industrial society.

The importance of societal recognition of the artist/maker to the future of crafts is something which has become very obvious to me as a result of doing this thesis. I intend, in the future, to explore a means of re-educating society in the value of culture and tradition, be it through my work or on a more academic level. I hope, with my newly acquired knowledge and enthusiasm, that I can inspire my fellow colleagues to do the same, so that together we can strive to design objects that will push both Yanagi's and Franck's dream of a better quality of living closer to being a reality.

CONGLUSION

In a list of the personance of energy schedult to be reaction and out and the prelipsophers on new dy and the dension of all ansate notices from and the directed and suggestions, and 3 descentro and valid, or no vertical, as any of the optimized was enclose afford the prediblic of the action and broad and the too that he was enclose afford the prediblic of the action and

novero familiaria a myself with the work and address and to the a transfer and having recognized if a aimpt heather sink ones between oil from visions and goals find vision of and constructs or delines to be a transfer of o meaning a store directed and constructed goal and the bill of the top has quarted that a second and constructed goal and the bill of top and man an exact and successive of and construction of the bill of top and the internation of the second of the bill of the top and the internation of the second of the bill of the top and the internation of the second of the bill of the top and the internation of the second of the bill of the top and the internation of the second of the bill of the top and the second of the second of the second of the top and the second of the second of the second of the top and the second of the second of the second of the second of the top of the second of the second of the second of the top and the second of the second of the second of the second of the top and the second of the top of the second of the top of the second o

Home compress measures are the maining developed a croper terrectoride a folic (and the formed a construction calm be conserved as to locate the first formed a conserve control calm be the restruction of appress contracts and remedia conserve to back that dates for the construction administration of the conserve to back that dates for the construct a dimpleted by the conserve to back that dates for the construct a dimpleted by the conserve to back that dates for construct a dimpleted by the conserve to back that dates for construct a dimpleted by the conserve to back that dates for construct a dimpleted by the construct a formation active to be constructed by the construct as a structure of write date for the too so the construction of the construct as a structure of write date for the too so the

The lagon and colored and acceptions of an automore colored and the colored precentral is acception which they according to explore as a reach of damp they hears, indeption the nuture, to explore a theory of the explored societions the variation of the panel leadyon, bene through my work an on an more explored as the forestable to newly acquired from the societary approximation to a total explore the newly acquired from the societary solitorials we get above to select the approximation of the total to the splitter we get above to select the approximation of the total from the splitter we get above to select the approximation of the total from the solit action with the second to be accepted and activities and the solit total total to the solit action with the second to be accepted activities and the solit of the solit activities and the solit activities to select to the select total activities accepted to the solit form the second activities and total total activities to select total activities accepted to the solit form the solit form the solit activities and to select total activities accepted to the solit form the second activities and total total activities total activities accepted to the solit form the second activities and total total activities total activities accepted activities accepted to the solit form the second activities activities activities accepted to the second activities activities accepted to the second activities accep

LIST OF FOOTNOTES

- Moeran, Brian. Bernard Leach and the Japanese Folk Craft Movement: the formative years. *Journal of Design History*, Vol. 2, Nos. 2 & 3, 1989.
- 2 Op. cit.
- Soetsu, Yanagi. What the Mingei Movement has contributed, *Mingei the standard of beauty*, Meigeikan handout from Spring Special
 Exhibition, April 13-June 27, 1993.
- 4 Moes, Robert. *Mingei Japanese Folk Art*, The Brooklyn Museum.
- 5 Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty), Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.
- 6 Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman, *Form, Textures, Images*, Iwamiya, Yoshida, Gage.
- 7 Moes, Robert. *Mingei Japanese Folk Art*, The Brooklyn Museum.
- 8 Muraoka & Okamura. *Folk Arts & Crafts of Japan*, Weatherhill/Heibonsha, New York/Tokyo.
- 9 Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty), Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.
- 10 Soetsu, Yanagi. *The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty)*, Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.
- 11 Soetsu, Yanagi. *The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty),* Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.

38

LIST OF FOOTNOTES

Dependented factored Leads and Declapanese. Fold Class byginent the Iphoetike press. Decretor Declap resort, Yol and resort.

eretau Yanagi Winz (EE Minge Movelmuu ee conditutea Minge De e apter el estado Meigalleri manuo o ram Speigg Coenel Cedavo, vicul (Stanse 21, 1988)

Include to the Article Article Control of Lands

weathamiltheibmshal New Yerri orvo.

Soetker Sanegi, *The Units and Creatstated (d. creanese dis gift dife* beautif, Tologi Kodansho Internatione: 9972

sogtar. Yana ya ne Uniti dalar Gunshi an ya Angoela Asimi yan benutu Tiniwo Kadansha kiteti tetima, 1977

Sopiali Yedang the Imanowi Grafismas (2 Januare IIsigi) IIIo boolisi, Lakydi Kaderoné khoraanadali 1972

- 12 Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.
- 13 littala, Finland. Arabia Finland Catalogue on Kaj Franck. Hackman Tabletop Oy AB, Helsinki, Finland.
- 14 Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman.
- 15 littala, Finland. Arabia Finland Catalogue on Kaj Franck. Hackman Tabletop Oy AB, Helsinki, Finland.
- 16 Sittavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.
- 17 Op. cit.
- 18 Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.
- 19 Soetsu, Yanagi. The Unknown Craftsman.
- 20 littala, Finland. Arabia Finland Catalogue on Kaj Franck. Hackman Tabletop Oy AB, Helsinki, Finland.
- 21 Siltavuori, Eeva. A dream of a timeless object, *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.
- 22 Op. cit.

Billavidor Ek La A Crean of migrelass burner Form, Fine 100, more Sur 3, 1987.

intelle Pintano, Arabiati Intello Galajogo e proko, Etzabel Pintelonia Emberga Oy Alquialatina (Eletuda)

Seeled, Yanadi Dira Unanowi Dibitsyaan

Refer Finiand Apapta Finiand Catalogueron Kai Feddol, Nacion Integra Cy (1971) Sistema Finiands

Subreal Eave A droam of all relats check Acting Human.

THE PARTICIPATION

Still-Gover Equal A drastin of a limpleas object indica. Print of

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Austin R, Levy D, & Koichira U. *Bamboo*, New York/Tokyo, Weatherhill Inc., 1970.
- 2. Cooper-Hewitt Museum, *Scandinavian Modern Design*, 1880-1980, New York, Harry N Abrams Inc., 1982.
- 3. Hickman B. Japanese Crafts, Materials and their applications, London, East-West Publications Ltd., 1977.
- 4. Iwamiya T, Yoshida M & Gage RL. *Forms, Textures, Images*, New York/Tokyo, Weatherhill/Tankosha, 1979.
- 5. Leach B. *Beyond East and West*, New York, Watson-Guptill Publications, 1978.
- 6. Lowe J. Japanese Crafts, London, John Murry Publishers Ltd., 1983.
- 7. Moes R. Mingei Japanese Folk Art, USA, Universe Books, 1985.
- 8. Muraoka K, Okamura K. *Folk Arts and Crafts of Japan*, New York/Tokyo, Weatherhill/Heibonsha, 1973.
- 9. Sparke P. Japanese Design, London, Swallow Publishing Ltd., 1987.
- 10. Victoria & Albert Museum, Japanese Art and Design, London 1986.
- 11. Victoria & Albert Museum, *Japan Style*, Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1980.
- 12. Watson W. *The Great Japan Exhibition: Art of the Edo Period, 1600-1868*, London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1981.

HANGOODERE

Audio Rotes v. G. & Polishie V. Balado, New YorkColyan. Cashanaf Peri Juato

Conset Have Mussure Boston Science Manager 12000091 New York, Mary M. Proministry 1946

elickroad B. Jacqueere C. Ho. Morenels and the contractors courses their Production Clark Syst

De la companya

service - should be an the service - should be service - should be service

Mucata K. Ofanisha K. Faci Affredod Caka C. Asim Nell. Yortu Uyo, Weehotoli (toponona 1973)

Searce P. (Second 200 Percent Condor, Broallow Publication 198

vivadas V. Trational Jango Erikonon, Artiki po Escrivenco, 1890 1863 London, Vienenteira Ethicolomi, 1960

- 13. Yanagi Soetsu. *The Unknown Craftsman (A Japanese insight into beauty)*, Tokyo, Kodansha International, 1972.
- 14. Yanagi, Soetsu. *Folk Crafts in Japan*, Tokyo, Kukusai Bunka Shinkokai, 1936.



MAGAZINES, JOURNALS, LEAFLETS, BROCHURES

- Crafts Council/London. *Mingei The living tradition in Japanese arts*, Brochure from The Crafts Council of London Exhibition, Nov.-Jan., 1991-92.
- 2. littala Finland/Arabia Finland, Brochure on Kaj Franck, Helsinki, Hackman Tabletop Oy Ab (no year of publication given).
- Moeran, Brian. Bernard Leach and the Japanese Folk Craft Movement - the formative years, England, Oxford University Press, 1989. Article in *Journal of Design History*, Vol. 2, nos. 2 & 3.
- 4. Siltavuori, Eeva. A Dream of a timeless object. Article in *Form, Function, Finland*, No. 3, 1987.
- Yanagi, Soetsu. What the Mingei movement has contributed.
 Brochure from the Nippon Mingeikan Spring Special Exhibition April-June 1993, entitled *Mingei - The Standard of Beauty.*

MAGAZINES, JOURNAL - LEARING, BROCHLES

Crane Church London Innen - Fredwied Xunum Guan Seame au Eradunge inou The Chine Sampier Landon (Fridae Inn Novesian 2019-22

Intild Emigrid Adama Finland, Brichwicker Fall Ferror, Holslou, Hodry an Tableton Dy Ab (no year of oth foation given).

Veriagio Sopared Minorita Minoria Trovesses Service Sociales Decomente Trovesses Control e Minorita Service Service Service April Trocomente Trovesses Control Service Service April Service April April Service April 2019